### Rethinking the genus *Hyphodontia* s.l. (Hymenochaetales, Basidiomycota) – investigations on a worldwide scope including new taxonomy, phylogeny, and identification keys

Dissertation

for the degree as "Doktorin der Naturwissenschaften" (Dr. rer. nat.) in the Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences at the University of Kassel

submitted by

Janett Riebesehl

2018

#### Reviewer

Prof. Dr. Ewald Langer Prof. Dr. Kurt Weising

#### Disputation

24 May 2018

#### Contents

1.	Introduction		5	
	1.1	The genus Hyphodontia s.l.	5	
	1.2	Goals of the thesis	9	
2.	Publications			
	2.1	Hyphodontia borbonica, a new species from La Réunion	11	
	2.2	Hyphodontia s.l. (Hymenochaetales, Basidiomycota): 35 new	13	
		combinations and new keys to all 120 current species		
	2.3	Clarification of Lyomyces sambuci complex with the descriptions of	15	
		four new species		
	2.4	Hyphodontia (Hymenochaetales, Basidiomycota) and similar taxa from	17	
		Central Asia		
3.	Summary and perspectives		19	
4.	References			
List of abbreviations				
Contributions from the authors to the publications				
Acknowledgements				

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 The genus Hyphodontia sensu lato

Hyphodontia J. Erikss. is a basidiomycetous genus in the family Schizoporaceae (www.indexfungorum.org, November 2017), belonging to the order Hymenochaetales (Larsson et al. 2006). Eriksson described the genus in 1958, based on the generic type Hyphodontia pallidula (Bres.) J. Erikss. Since then, the genus has grown through the addition of new species descriptions and new combinations. The first discovered species were Corticium sambuci Pers., Hydnum paradoxum Schrad. and Hydnum spathulatum Schrad., whose descriptions were published in 1794 and are known today as Lyomyces sambuci (Pers.) P. Karst., Xylodon paradoxus (Schrad.) Chevall. and Xylodon spathulatus (Schrad.) Kuntze. In 1994, Langer's monograph was published. This is still the only work with species descriptions for all Hyphodontia species worldwide. Langer demonstrated 60 species, of which 52 are still counted today to Hyphodontia s. l. An important milestone in the history of the taxonomy of Hyphodontia s.l. is marked by the first molecular phylogeny of the Hymenochaetales with 29 ribosomal DNA sequences of different Hyphodontia s.l. species (Larsson et al. 2006). It shows that Hyphodontia s.l. is not monophyletic, but instead polyphyletic. Since this publication, it is still common to use Hyphodontia s.l. for all species which morphologically fit to species of these clades. In 2002 and 2009, Hjortstam and Ryvarden divided Hyphodontia s.l. into several genera based on morphological features, because a high number of taxa did not fit the original concept. The elaborated checklist of Hjortstam and Ryvarden (2009) contains 98 species in Hyphodontia s.l., which are split into 14 genera: Alutaceodontia (Parmasto) Hjortstam & Ryvarden, Botryodontia (Hjortstam & Ryvarden) Hjortstam, Chaetoporellus Bondartsev & Singer, Deviodontia (Parmasto) Hjortstam & Ryvarden, Fibrodontia Parmasto, Hastodontia (Parmasto) Hjortstam & Ryvarden, Hyphodontia J. Erikss., Kneiffiella P. Karst., Lagarobasidium Jülich, Lyomyces P. Karst., Palifer Stalpers & P.K. Buchanan, Rogersella Liberta & A.J. Navas, Schizopora Velen. and Xylodon (Pers.) Gray. Today, 85 of these species are still counted to Hyphodontia s.l. The genus Fibrodontia was removed from Hymenochaetales after DNA sequences of Fibrodontia gossypina Parmasto revealed a relationship with Trechisporales (Binder et al. 2005). The third work which includes all Hyphodontia s.l. species worldwide was the key of Yurchenko and Wu (2016). They keyed out 126 species, four published but unnamed taxa (e.g. Hyphodontia sp. 1) and three taxa with an affinity formulation. The concept followed Hjortstam and Ryvarden (2009) by classifying recently described species into the existing genera, without formulating new combinations. In 2017, Riebesehl and Langer presented the latest checklist, with new combinations and new keys to all Hyphodontia s.l. species. This work was also based on Hjortstam and Ryvarden (2009), but took account of recent findings from molecular phylogenies too (e.g. Yurchenko and Wu 2014). They accepted 120 species, classified into seven genera: Hastodontia, Hyphodontia, Kneiffiella, Lagarobasidium, Lyomyces, Palifer and Xylodon. Following this study, eleven more species have been described: Hyphodontia bubalina Min Wang, Yuan Y. Chen & B.K. Cui, H. chinensis C.C. Chen & Sheng H. Wu, H. mollissima L.W. Zhou, H. mongolica Min Wang, Yuan Y. Chen & B.K. Cui, H. reticulata C.C. Chen & Sheng H. Wu, H. subtropica C.C. Chen & Sheng H. Wu, H. zhixiangii L.W. Zhou & Yu.Sh. Gafforov, Lyomyces allantosporus Riebesehl, Yurchenko & E. Langer, L. mascarensis Riebesehl, Yurchenko & E. Langer, L. organensis Yurchenko & Riebesehl and L. orientalis Riebesehl, Yurchenko & E. Langer. Furthermore, Chen et al. (2017) clarified that Hyphodontia nongravis (Lloyd) Sheng H. Wu is an independent species, and not a synonym for Xylodon flaviporus (Berk. & M.A. Curtis ex Cooke) Riebesehl & E. Langer. This gives the current number of 132 species in Hyphodontia s.l. (December 2017). After the addition of the newly described species to the genera concepts by Riebesehl and Langer (2017), Hyphodontia consists of 11, Hastodontia of 2, Kneiffiella of 24, Lagarobasidium of 4, Lyomyces of 21, Palifer of 6 and Xylodon of 64 species.

The morphology of *Hyphodontia* s.l. comprises different features which could be used to separate the seven genera. The basidiomata are generally resupinate, with a smooth, grandinioid, odontioid or poroid hymenophore. Intermediate forms are also possible. They are mostly whitish or yellowish in colour. The hyphal system is monomitic, dimitic, trimitic or pseudodimitic. Most species have clamp connections, but not necessarily on every septum. Cystidia of different types are possible. Suburniform holobasidia are common, but e.g. clavate or cylindrical forms could also occur. The basidia usually have four sterigmata, two sterigmata are rare. The basidiospores are mainly allantoid, ellipsoid, globose, ovoid or cylindrical in shape. Hyalin, inamyloid and thin-walled spores are common, thick-walled spores occur less often (Riebesehl & Langer 2017).

Generally, the genera can be differentiated by some criteria, but exceptions are present, so that an identification key is important for a determination. *Hyphodontia* is clearly characterized by the presence of capitate septo- and/or lagenocystidia. Lamprocystidia with a strongly encrusted apex, are present in *Palifer. Hastodontia* shows moniliform cystidia and thin-walled spores, paired with a smooth or slightly grandinioid hymenophore. Tubular tramacystidia are present in *Kneiffiella* and *Lagarobasidium*. *Kneiffiella* mainly have thin-walled, and *Lagarobasidium* thick-walled, spores. *Xylodon* and *Lyomyces* overlap on several points. Tuberculate, coralloid, irpicoid or poroid hymenophores and thick-walled spores are only present in *Xylodon*, but smooth, grandinioid or odontioid hymenophores and thin-walled spores, are present in both genera (Riebesehl & Langer 2017). Ultimately, a key is important for the identification of species in these two genera, even with a lot of experience in *Hyphodontia* s.l.

Additional morphological features, drepanocysts and malocysts, could be observed in cultures of *Hyphodontia* s.l. Drepanocysts are ending hyphae, which bend and clasp around other hyphae. Malocysts are formed on the sides of hyphae, and are roundish in shape, with a tip. The function of these cell types is unknown (Langer 1994).

The distribution of *Hyphodontia* s.l. species is in principle worldwide, with different inhabited areas depending on single species. It can vary between small habitats for some species, and a cosmopolitan distribution for others, e.g. *Lyomyces bisterigmatus* (Boidin & Gilles) Hjortstam & Ryvarden is only known from the southwest Indian Ocean islands, while *Hyphodontia arguta* (Fr.) J. Erikss. has a cosmopolitan distribution (Yurchenko and Wu 2016). *Hyphodontia, Kneiffiella, Lyomyces* and *Xylodon* species have been found all over the world. *Hastodontia* is only known from the northern hemisphere, *Lagarobasidium* is not known from Australia and Africa, but is present in the southwest Indian Ocean islands and Macaronesia, and *Palifer* is distributed in South America, Central America, Asia and New Zealand. In principle, distribution data for *Hyphodontia* s.l. species should be considered incomplete, because this group has not been sufficiently explored (Riebesehl and Langer 2017).

Usually *Hyphodontia* s.l. species belong to the wood decomposers, causing a white-rot in angiosperms, as well as in gymnosperms (Eriksson and Ryvarden 1976, Yurchenko and Wu 2014). Nevertheless, other observations have also been reported. Nordén et al. (1999) detected *Hastodontia hastata* (Litsch.) Hjortstam & Ryvarden, *Hyphodontia pallidula, Kneiffiella abieticola* (Bourdot & Galzin) Jülich & Stalpers, *Xylodon asperus* (Fr.) Hjortstam & Ryvarden and *X. brevisetus* (P. Karst.) Hjortstam & Ryvarden on brown-rotted spruce stumps. These species are similarly known from white-rotting wood (Langer 1994). *Kneiffiella lanata* (Burds. & Nakasone) Riebesehl & E. Langer is reported living inter alia on palm tree

inflorescences of the genus *Sabal* Adans. (Burdsall and Nakasone 1981). *K. palmae* Rick ex Hjortstam & Ryvarden, *Xylodon candidissimus* (Berk. & M.A. Curtis) Hjortstam & Ryvarden and *X. gracilis* (Hjortstam & Ryvarden) Hjortstam & Ryvarden are known for living on palms (Hjortstam et al. 2005, Langer 1994). *Lagarobasidium detriticum* (Bourdot & Galzin) Jülich, *Lyomyces griseliniae* (G. Cunn.) Riebesehl & E. Langer, *Xylodon borealis* (Kotir. & Saaren.) Hjortstam & Ryvarden and *X. gracilis* could also be found on pteridophytes (Kotiranta and Saarenoksa 2000, Langer 1994). Bamboo has been documented as a possible substrate for *Lyomyces bisterigmatus* and *Palifer septocystidiatus* (H.X. Xiong, Y.C. Dai & Sheng H. Wu) Riebesehl, Yurchenko & E. Langer, and halms of Poaceae for *L. capitatocystidiatus* (H.X. Xiong, Y.C. Dai & Sheng H. Wu) Riebesehl & E. Langer (Boidin and Gilles 2003, Xiong et al. 2009, 2010). Furthermore, *Xylodon adhaerisporus* (Langer) Hjortstam & Ryvarden grows on *Clematis* L. and *X. bisporus* (Boidin & Gilles) Hjortstam & Ryvarden on *Staehelina dubia* L. (Boidin and Gilles 2003, Langer 1994).

Other fungi could also serve as a possible substrate: *Phellinus* Quél. is confirmed for *Hyphodontia pallidula*, and *Xylobolus frustulatus* (Pers.) P. Karst. for *Lyomyces macrescens* (Banker) Riebesehl & E. Langer (Ginns and Lefebvre 1993, Langer 1994).

*Hyphodontia* sp. (s.l.), *Xylodon flaviporus* and *X. raduloides* (Pers.) Riebesehl & E. Langer have been observed in the human respiratory system (Cui et al. 2013, James et al. 2016, Pounder et al. 2007), as well as *Hyphodontia* sp. (s.l.), which has been linked to a fungal keratitis of the human eye (Tananuvat et al. 2012).

An endophytic lifestyle is also possible (Dodd et al. 2010, Ragazzi et al. 2003). However, Ragazzi et al. only found *Hyphodontia* s.l. in declining *Quercus* species, and not in healthy trees.

Ponge (1990) detected a mycorrhizal form for *Hyphodontia* s.s. and the decomposition of animal remains.

Lichenized lifestyles were proven for *Hyphodontia pallidula*, *Lyomyces crustosus* (Pers.) P. Karst. and *Xylodon brevisetus*, with algal species related to *Coccomyxa* Schmidle and *Elliptochloris* Tschermak-Woess as photobiotic partners (Voytsekhovich et al. 2015).

Until now, the following enzymes have been found in *Hyphodontia* sp. (s.l.): laccase, as well as lignin, manganese, and manganese dependent versatile peroxidases (Kinnunen et al. 2017). Erkel et al. (1994) discovered Hyphodontal, an antifungal inhibitor of reverse transcriptases.

The production of crystals in *Hyphodontia* s.l. is common. They can occur as a layer over and in the whole basidiocarp, connected with hyphae or typically organized on cystidia. Keller (1985) investigated the crystals of cystidia in four *Hyphodontia* s.l. species: *Hyphodontia alutaria* (Burt) J. Erikss., *H. arguta*, *Xylodon brevisetus* and *X. paradoxus*. It was found to be calcium oxalate, which arises during cell wall decomposition of wood, and is a widespread phenomenon in white-rot fungi (Anagnostakis 1983, Guggiari et al. 2011).

#### **1.2 Goals of the thesis**

Fungi play a dominant role in terrestrial ecosystems, and represent one of the three large eukaryotic lineages (Nagy et al. 2017). Accumulation curves of newly described species over time, showed that higher taxa were more or less completely described whereas the accumulation curve for fungi is still increasing. The recent study by Hawksworth and Lücking (2017), extrapolated a total of 2.2 to 3.8 million species of fungi. Currently, around 120.000 species are accepted. This leads to the conclusion that only 3 to 8 % of the fungal species have been described. Since 2010, around 1.600 species have been described each year; in the previous 40 years it was around 1.300 per year (Hawksworth and Lücking 2017).

The aim of this study is to make a contribution to the unknown fungal diversity. *Hyphodontia* s.l. is an understudied group, especially in the tropics. The fungarium collection at the Department of Ecology in the University of Kassel, contains a high number of unstudied *Hyphodontia* s.l. specimens, collected from different continents. Essentially, this study was inspired by a big collection from La Réunion Island, because biodiversity hotspots are recognized as regions where unknown species could occur (Myers et al. 2000, Scheffers et al. 2012).

Initially, an attempt was made to identify the specimens from La Réunion Island. This work was very time-consuming, because there was no current worldwide identification key, and it led to the decision that a new key was essential for good identification. Nevertheless, one specimen could be identified very quickly as a new species: *Hyphodontia borbonica* Riebesehl, E. Langer & Barniske. It has lagenocystidia combined with a poroid hymenophore (Riebesehl et al. 2015). At the time, this combination was not present in *Hyphodontia* s.l. While working on the new key, another new key to all *Hyphodontia* s.l. species worldwide, was published by Yurchenko and Wu (2016). It follows the concept of Hjortstam and

Ryvarden (2009) with 13 genera, into which recently described species were organised, but without formulating new combinations. Riebesehl and Langer (2017) combined the morphological classification after Hjortstam and Ryvarden (2002, 2009) with the relationships obtained from DNA analyses (e.g. Larsson et al. 2006). This led to six genera and a seventh genus, which was not sufficiently supported via DNA sequences. Six genera after Hjortstam and Ryvarden (2009) could no longer be supported. Furthermore, Riebesehl and Langer (2017) added 35 new combinations in Hyphodontia s.l. to the classification system with seven genera, and provided eight ITS sequences of holotype material and further three ITS sequences of previously unsequenced species. On the basis of the new identification keys from Riebesehl and Langer (2017) and Yurchenko and Wu (2016), it was also possible to identify four other new species from Brazil, La Réunion and Taiwan: Lyomyces allantosporus, L. mascarensis, L. organensis and L. orientalis (Yurchenko et al. 2017). A contribution to the distribution of *Hyphodontia* s.l. species could be made by collaborating on collections from Central Asia. Six species could be reported for the first time in this region: Hyphodontia alutaria, H. pallidula, Kneiffiella alutacea (Fr.) Jülich & Stalpers, Lyomyces crustosus, L. erastii (Saaren. & Kotir.) Hjortstam & Ryvarden and L. sambuci (Gafforov et al. 2017).

#### 2. Publications

#### 2.1 Hyphodontia borbonica, a new species from La Réunion

2.2 *Hyphodontia* s.l. (Hymenochaetales, Basidiomycota): 35 new combinations and new keys to all 120 current species

2.3 Clarification of *Lyomyces sambuci* complex with the descriptions of four new species

2.4 *Hyphodontia* (Hymenochaetales, Basidiomycota) and similar taxa from Central Asia

#### 3. Summary and perspectives

This thesis dealt with the fungal genus *Hyphodontia* s.l. Changing the classification system to treat the species from the broad *Hyphodontia* s.l. concept by a division into other genera was continued. Hjortstam and Ryvarden (2002, 2009) began the concept, but only took morphological features into account. This thesis revised the system and considered findings from molecular systematics. 35 new combinations were formulated. New identification keys were prepared, according to the new genera classifications. Overall, 37 DNA sequences were obtained and made publicly available on NCBI GenBank. The first generated sequences were successful for 13 species, and sequences of holotype material for 12 species, with regard to the fungal barcode ITS. It was possible to describe five new species out of collections from Brazil, La Réunion and Taiwan. Furthermore, the distribution of *Hyphodontia* s.l. species in Central Asia was investigated.

Hawksworth and Lücking (2017) showed that the accumulation curve for describing new fungal species is not yet saturated. Around 1.600 new species of fungi were described every year (Hawksworth and Lücking 2017). With regard to Hyphodontia s.l., 24 new species were described in the last five years (Tab. 1). Most of the new species were found in Southeast Asia. This is due to active mycologists working with this group in these parts of the world. Nevertheless, more new *Hyphodontia* s.l. species could also be expected from other regions. Further new species might be suspected while studying difficult species, or species complexes. The species complex of Lyomyces sambuci was one topic of this thesis (Yurchenko et al. 2017), as well as the question whether Lyomyces palmae and Hyphodontia *microspora* are one or two species (Riebesehl and Langer 2017). But there are still more difficult species, for which a deeper investigation could reveal new species, e.g. Lyomyces pruni and Xylodon bugellensis (Ces.) Hjortstam & Ryvarden. This is also a case where it is unclear whether they are two or only one species. In Riebesehl and Langer (2017), the concepts of Eriksson and Ryvarden (1976) and Langer (1994) are followed, with a synonymization of the species. But other scientists treat them as two species (e.g. Hjortstam 1991). A molecular analysis with new sequences, could be helpful here. Another example is Hyphodontia alutaria and Hyphodontia pallidula. These taxa were generally counted as being different species, but phylograms show a high similarity in their ITS sequences (e.g. Riebesehl et al. 2015), which would normally point to them being one species. In addition, the morphological differences are not very large. Riebesehl and Langer (2017) still used the

genus *Palifer*, because currently, it is impossible to base a decision on DNA sequences. Only one ITS sequence is available so far. An additional study is important to resolve the status of *Palifer*: Is it an independent genus, or should it be integrated into *Xylodon*? Several more instances in *Hyphodontia* s.l. are known to be unsolved.

Year	Species	Country
2013	Lyomyces tenuissimus	Taiwan
	Xylodon anmashanensis	Taiwan
	Xylodon echinatus	Taiwan
	Xylodon subclavatus	Taiwan
2014	Hyphodontia dhingrae	India
	Lyomyces microfasciculatus	China, Taiwan, Vietnam
	Lyomyces vietnamensis	Vietnam
	Xylodon astrocystidiatus	Taiwan
	Xylodon pseudotropicus	China
	Xylodon rhizomorphus	China
2015	Hyphodontia borbonica	La Réunion
2016	Kneiffiella subefibulata	China
	Xylodon dimiticus	China
2017	Hyphodontia bubalina	China
	Hyphodontia chinensis	China
	Hyphodontia mollissima	China
	Hyphodontia mongolica	China
	Hyphodontia reticulata	Japan, Taiwan
	Hyphodontia subtropica	China, Vietnam
	Hyphodontia zhixiangii	Uzbekistan
	Lyomyces allantosporus	La Réunion
	Lyomyces mascarensis	La Réunion
	Lyomyces organensis	Brazil
	Lyomyces orientalis	Taiwan

Table 1: Newly described species in *Hyphodontia* s.l. from the last five years (2013-2017)

In conclusion, it can be said that much more research can be imagined, simply to solve the problematic cases already identified, and that it is also conceivable that more new species could be found, especially in biodiversity hotspots or understudied regions.

#### 4. References

- Anagnostakis SL (1983) The mycelial biology of *Endothia parasitica* I. Nuclear and cytoplasmic genes that determine morphology and virulence. In: Jennings DH, Rayner ADM (eds) The Ecology and Physiology of the Fungal Mycelium. Cambridge University Press, London, UK, pp. 353–366
- Ariyawansa HA, Hyde KD, Jayasiri SC et al. (2015) Fungal diversity notes 111-252taxonomic and phylogenetic contributions to fungal taxa. Fungal Divers 7(1):27
- Beentje H (2006) Flora of Tropical East Africa: Ericaceae. Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew
- Binder M, Hibbett DS, Larsson KH, Larsson E, Langer E, Langer G (2005) The phylogenetic distribution of resupinate forms across the major clades of mushroom-forming fungi (Homobasidiomycetes). Systematics and Biodiversity 3(2):113–157
- Boidin J, Gilles G (2003) Homobasidiomycétes Aphyllophorales non porés à basides dominantes à 2(3) stérigmates. Bull Soc mycol Fr 119(1-2):1–17
- Burdsall HH Jr, Nakasone KK (1981) New or little known lignicolous Aphyllophorales (Basidiomycotina) from southeastern United States. Mycologia 73(3):454–476. doi: 10.2307/3759599
- Cadet T (1977) La végétation de l'île de La Réunion: Etude phytoécologique et phytosociologique. Dissertation, University Aix Marseille III
- Chen CC, Wu SH, Chen CY (2017) Three new species of *Hyphodontia* s.l. (Basidiomycota) with poroid or raduloid hymenophore. Mycol Prog 16. doi: 10.1007/s11557-017-1286-0
- Chen JJ, Zhou LW, Ji XH, Zhao CL (2016) *Hyphodontia dimitica* and *H. subefibulata* spp. nov. (Schizoporaceae, Hymenochaetales) from southern China based on morphological and molecular characters. Phytotaxa 269(1):1–13
- Collopy PD, Largeteau-Mamoun ML, Romaine CP, Royse DJ (2001) Molecular Phylogenetic Analyses of *Vertcillium fungicola* and Related Species Causing Dry Bubble Disease of the Cultivated Button Mushroom, *Agaricus bisporus*. Phytopathology 91:905–912
- Cui L, Morris A, Ghedin E (2013) The human mycobiome in health and disease. Genome Med 5(7):63. doi: 10.1186/gm467
- Cunningham GH (1955) Thelephoraceae of New Zealand Part VI. The Genus Peniophora. Trans Proc R Soc N Z 83:247–293
- Cunningham GH (1959) Hydnaceae of New Zealand Part II The Genus *Odontia*. Trans Roy Soc N Z 86(1-2):65–103

- Dhingra GS (2014) Diversity of resupinate, non-poroid agaricomycetous fungi in the Himalaya and adjoining areas. In: Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Mushroom Biology and Mushroom Products held in New Delhi (19-22 November 2014) – A Report. Mushroom Research 23(2):24–41
- Dodd S, Ganley R, Bellgard S, Than D (2010) Endophytes associated with *Cirsium arvense* a step toward understanding their role in the success/failure of *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* as a bioherbicide. In Zydenbos SM (ed.) Proceedings of the 17<sup>th</sup> Australasien Weeds Conference, Christchurch, New Zealand, Plant Protection Society. 235–238
- Donk MA (1967) Notes on European Polypores II, Notes on Poria. Persoonia 5(1):47-130
- Douanla-Meli C, Langer E (2009) Fungi of Cameroon 1. New corticioid species (Basidiomycota). Mycotaxon 107:95–103
- Dreistadt SH (ed.) (2012) Integrated pest management for citrus. 3rd ed. [Statewide integrated pest management program. University of California. Agriculture and Natural Resources. Publication 3303]
- Dueñas M, Telleria MT, Melo I, Martín MP (2009) *Lagarobasidium calongei* (Aphyllophorales, Basidiomycota), a new species of corticioid fungi from Azore Islands. *Anales* Jard Bot *Madrid* 66(S1):41–46. doi: 10.3989/ajbm.2230
- Eriksson J (1958) Studies in the Heterobasidiomycetes and Homobasidiomycetes Aphyllophorales of Muddus National Park in North Sweden. Symb Bot Ups 16(1):1– 172
- Eriksson J, Ryvarden, L (1976) The Corticiaceae of North Europe Volume 4, *Hyphodermella* – *Mycoacia*. Fungiflora, Oslo, Norway.
- Erkel G, Anke T, Velten R, Gimenez A, Steglich W (1994) Hyphodontal, a New Antifungal Inhibitor of Reverse Transcriptases from *Hyphodontia* sp. (Corticiaceae, Basidiomycetes). Z Naturforsch C 49(9–10):561–570. doi: 10.1515/znc-1994-9-1005
- Fukami T, Dickie IA, Paula Wilkie J, Paulus BC, Park D, Roberts A, Buchanan PK, Allen RB (2010) Assembly history dictates ecosystem functioning: evidence from wood decomposer communities. Ecol Lett 13(6):675–684
- Gafforov Y, Riebesehl J, Ordynets A, Langer E, Yarasheva M, Ghobad-Nejhad M, Zhou LW, Wang XW, Gugliotta AM (2017) *Hyphodontia* (Hymenochaetales, Basidiomycota) and similar taxa from Central Asia. Botany 95(11):1041–1056. doi: 10.1139/cjb-2017-0115

- Galan M, Lopez SE, Wright JE (1993) Corticiaceas "Hifodermoides" (Basidiomycetes, Aphyllophorales) de la Provincia de Buenos Aires, Argentina. Darwiniana 32(1-4):237–256
- Gardes M, Bruns TD (2008) ITS primers with enhanced specificity for basidiomycetes application to the identification of mycorrhizae and rusts. Mol Ecol 2(2):113–118
- Gilbertson RL (1964) Resupinate hydraceous fungi of North America III. Additional type studies. Pap Michigan Acad Sci 1(49):15–25
- Ginns J, Lefebvre MNL (1993) Lignicolous Corticioid Fungi (Basidiomycota) of North America. Mycologia Memoir 19
- Gorjón SP (2012) Some species of *Hyphodontia* s.l. with encrusted cystidial elements. Mycosphere 3(4):464–474. doi: 10.5943 /mycosphere/3/4/10
- Gorjón SP, Greslebin AG (2012) Type studies of the species of *Odontia* described by GH Cunningham. N Z J Bot 50(3):289–301
- Greslebin AG, Rajchenberg M (1997) Corticioid Aphyllophorales (Basidiomycota) from the Patagonian Andes Forests of Argentina. 2. *Hyphodontia decorticans* sp. nov. Mycotaxon 65:205–209
- Greslebin AG, Rajchenberg M (2000) The genus *Hyphodontia* in the Patagonian Andes Forests of Argentina. Mycologia 92(6):1155–1165. doi: 10.2307/3761483
- Guggiari M, Bloque R, Aragno M, Verrecchia E, Job D, Junier P (2011) Experimental calcium-oxalate crystal production and dissolution by selected white-rot fungi. Int Biodeterioration Biodegrad 65(6):803–809. doi: 10.1016/j.ibiod.2011.02.012
- Hallenberg N, Hjortstam K (1996) Four new species of corticioid fungi (Basidiomycotina, Aphyllophorales) from Argentina. Mycotaxon 57:117–123
- Hawsworth DL, Lücking R (2017) Fungal Diversity Revisited: 2.2 to 3.8 Million Species. In:
  Heitman J, Howlett BJ, Crous PW, Stukenbrock EH, James TY, Gow NAR (eds) The
  Fungal Kingdom. American Society for Microbiology. Microbiol Spectr 5(4). doi:
  10.1128/microbiolspec.FUNK-0052-2016
- Hibbett DS, Binder M (2002) Evolution of complex fruiting-body morphologies in homobasidiomycetes. P Roy Soc Lond B Bio 269(1504):1963–1969
- Hjortstam K (1987) A check-list to genera and species of corticioid fungi (Hymenomycetes). Windahlia 17:55–85
- Hjortstam K (1991) *Atheliopsis* instead of *Pteridomyces* (Corticiaceae, Basidiomycetes). Mycotaxon 42:149–154

- Hjortstam K, Høgholen E (1980) Notes on Corticiaceae (Basidiomycetes) VI Rogersella eburnea nov. spec. Mycotaxon 10(2):265–268
- Hjortstam K, Ryvarden, L (1986) Some new and noteworthy fungi (Aphyllophorales, Basidiomycetes) from Iguaza, Argentina. Mycotaxon 25(2):539–567
- Hjortstam K, Ryvarden L (1997) Corticioid species (Basidiomycotina, Aphyllophorales) from Colombia collected by Leif Ryvarden. Mycotaxon 64:229–241
- Hjortstam K, Ryvarden L (2002) Studies in tropical corticioid fungi (Basidiomycota, Aphyllophorales) *Alutaceodontia*, *Botryodontia*, *Hyphodontia* s.s. and *Kneiffiella*. Syn Fung 15:7–17
- Hjortstam K, Ryvarden L (2007) Studies in corticioid fungi from Venezuela III (Basidiomycotina, Aphyllophorales). Syn Fung 23:56–107
- Hjortstam K, Ryvarden L (2009) A checklist of names in *Hyphodontia* sensu stricto sensu lato and *Schizopora* with new combinations in *Lagarobasidium*, *Lyomyces*, *Kneiffiella*, *Schizopora*, and *Xylodon*. Syn Fung 26:33–55
- Hjortstam K, Ryvarden L, Itturiaga T (2005) Studies in corticioid fungi from Venezuela II (Basidiomycotina, Aphyllophorales). Syn Fung 20:42–78
- Izumitsu K, Hatoh K, Sumita T, Kitade Y, Morita A, Gafur A, Ohta A, Kawai M, Yamanaka T, Neda H, Ota Y, Tanaka C (2011) Rapid and simple preparation of mushroom DNA directly from colonies and fruiting bodies for PCR. Mycoscience 53:396–401. doi:10.1007/s10267-012-0182-3
- James L. Scadding G, Gould H, Durham S (2016) IL-6 signalling in the nasal mucosa following allergen challenge discriminates allergic and non-allergic subjects. In: British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology Abstracts of the 2016 BSACI Annual Meeting, Telford International Centre, UK, 29 September – 1 October 2016. Clin Exp Allergy 46(12):1625–1674. doi: 10.1111/cea.12840
- Jang YS, Lee JJ, Lim YW, Kim JJ (2014) Diversity of Wood Inhabiting Polyporoid and Corticioid Fungi in Odaesan National Park, South Korea. Kosocmycol 26(1):93–93
- Jülich W (1974) The genera of the Hyphodermoideae (Corticiaceae). Persoonia 8(1):59-97
- Karsten PA (1881) Enumeratio Thelephorearum Fr. et Clavariearum Fr. Fennicarum, systemate novo dispositarum. Rev Mycol Toulouse 3(9):21–23
- Katoh K, Standley DM (2013) MAFFT Multiple Sequence Alignment Software Version 7: Improvements in Performance and Usability. *Mol Biol Evol* 30(4):772–780. doi: 10.1093/molbev/mst010

- Keller J (1985) Les cystides cristalliferes des Aphyllophorales. Mycologia Helvetica 1(5):277–340
- Kinnunen A, Maijala P, Järvinen P, Hatakka A (2017) Improved Efficiency in Screening for Lignin-Modifying Peroxidases and Laccases of Basidiomycetes. Curr Biotechnol 6:105–115. doi: 10.2174/2211550105666160330205138
- Kotiranta H, Saarenoksa R (2000) Three new species of *Hyphodontia* (Cortciaceae). Ann Bot Fennici 37:255–278
- Kotiranta H, Saarenoksa R (2006) *Crustoderma efibulatum* and *Hyphodontia incrustata* (Basidiomycota, Aphyllophorales), two new species form southern Finland. Ann Bot Fennici 43:301–306
- Kumar S, Stecher G, Tamura K (2016) MEGA7: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis version 7.0 for bigger datasets. Mol Biol Evol 33(7):1870–4. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msw054
- Langer E (1994) Die Gattung Hyphodontia John Eriksson. Bibl Mycol 154
- Langer E (2000) Bemerkenswerte Pilze aus dem Nationalpark Bayerischer Wald: *Schizopora bresinskyi* sp. nov. Hoppea 61:229–235
- Langer E (2002) Phylogeny of non-gilled and gilled basidiomycetes: DNA sequence inference, ultrastructure and comparative morphology. Dissertation, University of Tübingen
- Langer E, Dai YC (1998) Changbai woodrotting fungi 8. *Hyphodontia syringae* sp. nov. Mycotaxon 67:181–190
- Larsson KH (2007) Re-thinking the classification of corticioid fungi. Mycol Res 111(9):1040–1063. doi:10.1016/j.mycres.2007.08.001
- Larsson KH, Larsson E, Kõljalg U (2004) High phylogenetic diversity among corticioid homobasidiomycetes. Mycol Res108(09):983–1002
- Larsson KH, Parmasto E, Fischer M, Langer E, Nakasone KK, Redhead SA (2006) Hymenochaetales: a molecular phylogeny for the hymenochaetoid clade. Mycologia 98(6):926–936
- Maekawa N (1993a) Taxonomic study of Japanese Corticiaceae (Aphyllophorales) I. Rep *Tottori* Mycol Inst 31:1–149
- Maekawa N (1993b) Three new Corticiaceous Fungi (Basidiomycota, Aphyllophorales) from Japan. P Jpn Acad 69B(5):120

- Moncalvo JM, Vilgalys R, Redhead SA, Johnson JE, James TY, Aime MC, Hofstetter V, Verduin SJ, Larsson E, Baroni TJ (2002) One hundred and seventeen clades of euagarics. Mol Phylogenet Evol 23:357–400. doi:10.1016/S1055-7903(02)00027-1
- Myers N, Mittermeier RA, Mittermeier CG, Fonseca GAB da, Kent J (2000) Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Nature 403(6772):853–858. doi: 10.1038/35002501
- Nagy LG, Tóth R, Kiss E, Slot J, Gácser A, Kovács GM (2017) Six Key Traits of Fungi: Their Evolutionary Origins and Genetic Bases. In: Heitman J, Howlett BJ, Crous PW, Stukenbrock EH, James TY, Gow NAR (eds) The Fungal Kingdom. American Society for Microbiology. Microbiol Spectr 5(4). doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.FUNK-0036-2016
- Nakasone KK (2003) Type studies of resupinate hydraceus Hymenomycetes described by Patouillard. Cryptogamie Mycol 24(2):131–145
- Nakasone KK (2008) Type studies of corticioid Hymenomycetes described by Bresadola. Cryptogamie Mycol 29(3):231–257
- Nakasone KK (2012) Type studies of corticioid Hymenomycetes (Basidiomycota) with aculei – Part II. Czech Mycol 64(1):23–42
- Niemelä T, Renvall P, Hjortstam K (1998) *Hagenia abyssinica* and its fungal decayers in natural stands. Edinb J Bot 55(3):473–484
- O'Donnell K (1993) *Fusarium* and its near relatives. In: Reynolds DR, Taylor JW (eds) Fungal systematics; The fungal holomorph: mitotic, meiotic and pleomorphic speciation. CAB International, Wallingford, pp. 223–225
- Office National des Forêts (1994) Forêt Mare-Longue. Guide Botanique. Office National des Forêts, Direction régional de La Réunion
- Parmasto E, Hallenberg N (2000) A taxonomic study of phlebioid fungi (Basidiomycota). Nord J Bot 20(1):105–118
- Paulus B, Hallenberg N, Buchanan PK, Chambers GK (2000) A phylogenetic study of the genus Schizopora (Basidiomycota) based on ITS DNA sequences. Mycol Res104(10):1155–1163
- Ponge JF (1990) Ecological study of a forest humus by observing a small volume I. Penetration of pine litter by mycorrhizal fungi. For Pathol 20(5):290–303. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0329.1990.tb01141.x

- Pounder JI, Simmon KE, Barton CA, Hohmann SL, Brandt ME, Petti CA (2007) Discovering Potential Pathogens among Fungi Identified as Nonsporulating Molds. J Clin Microbiol 45(2):568–571. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01684-06
- Ragazzi A, Moricca S, Capretti P, Dellavalle I, Turco E (2003) Differences in composition of endophytic mycobiota in twigs and leaves of healthy and declining *Quercus* species in Italy. For Pathol 23(1):31–38. doi: 10.1046/j.1439-0329.2003.3062003.x
- Rambaut A (2012) FigTree v1.4. http://tree.bio.ed.ac.uk/software/figtree. Accessed 5 December 2012
- Rattan SS (1977) The Resupinate Aphyllophorales of the North Western Himalayas. Bibl Mycol 60
- Riebesehl J, Langer E (2017) *Hyphodontia* s.l. (Hymenochaetales, Basidiomycota): 35 new combinations and new keys to all 120 current species. Mycol Prog 16(6):637–666. doi: 10.1007/s11557-017-1299-8
- Riebesehl J, Langer EJ, Ordynets A, Striegel MM, Witzany C (2015) *Hyphodontia borbonica*, a new species from La Réunion. Mycol Prog 14:104. doi: 10.1007/s11557-015-1126-z
- Roberts P (2000) Corticioid fungi from Korup National Park, Cameroon. Kew Bull 55(4):803–842. doi: 10.2307/4113628
- Ronquist F, Huelsenbeck JP (2003) MrBayes 3: Bayesian phylogenetic inference under mixed models. Bioinformatics 19(12):1572–1574. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btg180
- Samita, Sanyal SK, Dhingra, GS (2014) *Hyphodontia dhingrae* sp. nov. from India. Mycotaxon 129(1):209–211. doi: 10.5248/129.209
- Sanger F, Nicklen S, Coulson AR (1977) DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. P Natl Acad Sci USA 74(12):5463–5467
- Scheffers BR, Joppa LN, Pimm SL, Laurance WF (2012) What we know and don't know about Earth's missing biodiversity. Trends Ecol Evol 27(9):501–510. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2012.05.008
- Stöver BC, Müller KF (2010) TreeGraph 2: Combining and visualizing evidence from different phylogenetic analyses. BMC Bioinformatics 11:7. doi:10.1186/1471-2105-11-7
- Strasberg D (1996) Diversity, size composition and spatial aggregation among trees on a 1-ha rain forest plot at La Réunion. Biodivers Conserv 5(7):825–840
- Suhirman, Núñez M (1998) *Schizopora trametoides* sp. nov. A trimitic dimidiate species from Sumatra. Mycotaxon 68:157–164

- Tamura K, Stecher G, Peterson D, Filipski A, Kumar S (2013) MEGA6: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis Version 6.0. Mol Biol Evol 30:2725–2729
- Tananuvat N, Salakthuantee K, Vanittanakom N, Pongpom M, Ausayakhun S (2012) Prospective comparison between conventional microbial work-up vs PCR in the diagnosis of fungal keratitis. Eye 26(10):1337–1343. doi: 10.1038/eye.2012.162
- Tapia F, Chacón S, Gorjón SP (2016) Hongos corticioides (Agaricomycetes) citados de México. Acta Bot Mex 114:15–50
- Triolo J (2014) Etat des ressources génétiques forestières à l'île de La Réunion. Tome 11. Contribution au rapport de la FAO : "Etat des ressources génétiques forestières dans le monde". http://agriculture.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/11\_FranceTome11-ReunionJanvier2014\_cle884eeb.pdf
- Voytsekhovich A, Mikhailyuk T, Akimov Y, Ordynets A, Gustavs L, Karsten U (2015)
   Optionally lichenized fungi of *Hyphodontia* (Agaricomycetes, Schizoporaceae). 8<sup>th</sup>
   Congress of the International Symbiosis Society, Lisbon, 12 18 July 2015, Lisbon,
   Portugal (Conference paper)
- Wang Y, Lai Z, Li XX, Yan RM, Zhang ZB, Yang HL, Zhu D (2016) Isolation, diversity and acetylcholinesterase inhibitory activity of the culturable endophytic fungi harboured in *Huperzia serrata* from Jinggang Mountain, China. World J Microb Biot 32(2):1–23
- White TJ, Bruns T, Lee S, Taylor J (1990) Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal RNA genes for phylogenetics. In: Innis MA, Gelfand DH, Sninsky JJ, White TJ (eds) PCR Protocols: a guide to methods and applications. Academic Press, New York, USA, pp. 315–322
- Wu SH (1990) The Corticiaceae (Basidiomycetes) subfamilies Phlebioideae,Phanerochaetoideae and Hyphodermoideae in Taiwan. Acta Bot Fenn 142:1–123
- Wu SH (2000) Studies on *Schizopora flavipora* s.l., with special emphasis on specimens from Taiwan. Mycotaxon 76:51–66
- Wu SH (2001) Three new species of *Hyphodontia* with poroid hymenial surface. Mycologia 93(5):1019–1025
- Wu SH (2006) Hyphodontia tubuliformis, a new species from Taiwan. Mycotaxon 95:185– 188
- Xiong HX, Dai YC, Wu SH (2009) Three new species of *Hyphodontia* from Taiwan. Mycol Prog 8:165–169
- Xiong HX, Dai YC, Wu SH (2010) Two new species of *Hyphodontia* from China. Mycologia 102(4):918–922

- Yombiyeni P, Douanla-Meli C, Amalfi M, Decock C (2011) Poroid Hymenochaetaceae from Guineo–Congolian rainforest: *Phellinus gabonensis* sp. nov. from Gabon–taxonomy and phylogenetic relationships. Mycol Prog 10(3):351–362
- Yurchenko E, Riebesehl J, Langer E (2017) Clarification of Lyomyces sambuci complex with the descriptions of four new species. Mycol Prog 16(9):865–876. doi: 10.1007/s11557-017-1321-1
- Yurchenko E, Wu SH (2014) Three new species of *Hyphodontia* with peg-like hyphal aggregations. Mycol Prog 13(3):533. doi: 10.1007/s11557-013-0935-1
- Yurchenko E, Wu SH (2016) A key to the species of *Hyphodontia* sensu lato. MycoKeys 12:1–27. doi: 10.3897/mycokeys.12.7568
- Yurchenko E, Xiong HX, Wu SH (2013) Four new species of Hyphodontia (Xylodon s.s. Hjortstam & Ryvarden, Basidiomycota) from Taiwan. Nova Hedwigia 96(3-4):545– 558
- Zhao CL, Cui BK, Dai YC (2014) Morphological and molecular identification of two new species of *Hyphodontia* (Schizoporaceae, Hymenochaetales) from southern China. Cryptogamie Mycol 35(1):87–97. doi: 10.7872/crym.v35.iss1.2014.87
- Zhou LW, Vlasak Jr J, Vlasak J (2014) Inonotus andersonii and I. krawtzewii: another case of molecular sequencing-based diagnosis of morphologically similar species. Chiang Mai J Sci 41(4):789–797

#### List of abbreviations

aff.	affinity to (from latin: affinis)
alt.	altitude
asl.	above sea level
BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
BS	bootstrap support
DNA	desoxyribonucleic acid
dupl.	duplicate
e.g.	for example (from latin: exempli gratia)
emend.	revised by (from latin: emendatus)
Fig.	figure
GIS	Geographic Information System
GPS	Global Positioning System
ibid.	in the same place (from latin: ibidem)
ITS	internal transcribed spacer
КОН	potassium hydroxide
LCB	lactophenol cotton-blue solution
leg.	collected by (from latin: legit)
ME	Minimum Evolution
NCBI	National Centre for Biotechnology Information
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PP	posterior probability
rDNA	ribosomal desoxyribonucleic acid
rLSU	ribosomal large subunit
rRNA	ribosomal ribonucleic acid
s.l.	in the broad sense (from latin: sensu lato)
S.S.	in the narrow sense (from latin: sensu stricto)
s.str.	in the narrow sense (from latin: sensu stricto)
sp.	species (singular)
sp. nov.	new species (from latin: species nova)
spp.	species (plural)
Tab.	table
var.	variety (from latin: varietas)

#### Contributions from the authors to the publications

This dissertation includes four publications.

## 2.1 Riebesehl J, Langer EJ, Ordynets A, Striegel MM, Witzany C (2015) *Hyphodontia borbonica*, a new species from La Réunion. Mycol Prog 14:104. doi: 10.1007/s11557-015-1126-z

The study was designed by Riebesehl. The collecting of the samples was done by Langer and Barniske, and the description of the new species was elaborated by Riebesehl under assistance of Ordynets and Striegel. The line drawings were made by Riebesehl and Langer, and the photographs by Witzany and Riebesehl. Riebesehl did the laboratory work, followed by the phylogeny. The emendation of the genus was done by Riebesehl and Langer, and the identification key by Riebesehl. The corresponding author Riebesehl wrote the manuscript under assistance of Langer, Ordynets and Witzany.

#### 2.2 Riebesehl J, Langer E (2017) *Hyphodontia* s.l. (Hymenochaetales, Basidiomycota): 35 new combinations and new keys to all 120 current species. Mycol Prog 16(6):637–666. doi: 10.1007/s11557-017-1299-8

This study was designed by Riebesehl. Riebesehl did the laboratory work, followed by the phylogeny. The list of species was done by Riebesehl and the new combinations by Riebesehl, Langer and Yurchenko. The identification keys were constructed by Riebesehl and the emendations of the genera by Riebesehl and Langer. The corresponding author Riebesehl wrote the manuscript under assistance of Langer.

2.3 Yurchenko E, Riebesehl J, Langer E (2017) Clarification of *Lyomyces sambuci* complex with the descriptions of four new species. Mycol Prog 16(9):865–876. doi: 10.1007/s11557-017-1321-1 This study was designed by Yurchenko and Riebesehl. The collecting of the samples was done by Yurchenko, Riebesehl, Bauer, Chen, Hennen, Schröder, Striegel, E. and G. Langer. The description of the new species was elaborated by Yurchenko under assistance of Riebesehl. The line drawings and the photographs were taken by Yurchenko. Riebesehl did the laboratory work, followed by the phylogeny. The corresponding author Yurchenko wrote the manuscript together with Riebesehl and under assistance of Langer.

# 2.4 Gafforov Y, Riebesehl J, Ordynets A, Langer E, Yarasheva M, Ghobad-Nejhad M, Zhou LW, Wang XW, Gugliotta AM (2017) *Hyphodontia* (Hymenochaetales, Basidiomycota) and similar taxa from Central Asia. Botany 95(11):1041–1056. doi: 10.1139/cjb-2017-0115

The design of the study and the collecting of the samples were done by Gafforov with support from Yarasheva. Gafforov and Ordynets made the morphological examinations and the reidentifications. The photograph was taken by Gafforov and the map by Gafforov and Yarasheva. The laboratory work was processed by Gafforov and the phylogeny by Riebesehl. The identification key was prepared by Riebesehl and Langer. The first author as well as all coauthors contributed to the writing of the manuscript.

#### Acknowledgements

The presented dissertation was elaborated under the guidance of Prof. Dr. Ewald Langer at the University of Kassel in the Department of Ecology of the Institute of Biology.

I am very grateful to Prof. Dr. Ewald Langer for the chance of a doctorate on this topic as well as his permanent willingness for discussions, his support and the evaluation.

I would like to thank sincerely Prof. Dr. Kurt Weising for his efforts to review this dissertation, and Dr. Kai Füldner and Prof. Dr. Raffael Schaffrath for supervising this thesis in the examination board.

I am very thankful to my whole department for the support, especially to Manuel Striegel, Ulrike Frieling and Alexander Ordynets, who always took time for productive or inspiring mutual exchange of information.

My very special thanks go to Christian Witzany for his permanent interest, constant willingness for discussions, and technical support.

The collaboration with Dr. Eugene Yurchenko was absolutely great and I would like to thank him for our intensive and fruitful cooperation.

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Yusufjon Gafforov kindly offered me a good chance to collaborate on specimens from Central Asia.

Furthermore, the financial support from IPF (Integrative Pilzforschung; part of "Landes-Offensive zur Entwicklung Wissenschaftlich-Ökonomischer Exzellenz" of Hesses Ministry of Higher Education, Research and the Art) for collection trips to gain decisive specimens from La Réunion Island is kindly acknowledged.